S218597

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 2 0 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DKN HOLDINGS LLC,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

WADE FAERBER,

Defendant and respondent.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, 4th Civil No. E055732, E056294

After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of California, County of Riverside, Case Number RIC 1109512, Hon. John Vineyard

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRENOVOST, NORMANDIN, BERGH & DAWE Michael G. Dawe, SBN 94987 Kristin F. Godeke, SBN 254524 2122 North Broadway, Suite 200 Santa Ana, California 92706-2614 Telephone: (714) 547-2444

INTRODUCTION

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal below refused to apply what Petitioner contends is controlling Supreme Court precedent. Affirmed by the Court of Appeal, the trial court pronounced that the Supreme Court's holding in *Williams 2* was "wrong" with respect to the proposition that *joint and several* obligors can be sued either jointly in a single lawsuit, or severally in separate lawsuits. Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal announced that commentary in Witkin consistent with the *Williams 2* opinion was a "classic example" of Witkin mischaracterizing the law. Finally, the Court of Appeal refused to apply what appears to be the clear language and legislative intent of Corporations Code § 16307(b), which expressly permits partners to be sued jointly in a single lawsuit, or severally in separate lawsuits. ¹

IV.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND SUMMARY OF UNDERLYING PROCEEDINGS

Petitioner DKN Holdings, LLC ("Lessor" or "DKN") was one of two
Lessors under a ten-year commercial lease in which, it was eventually

¹ Corporations Code § 16307(b) was not expressly mentioned in the issues specified for review. Petitioner does not intend to exceed the scope of the specified issues by discussing §16307(b). Rather, Petitioner believes that the statute and its "joint and several" implications fall within the first specified issue.

established, there were three individual tenants ("Lessees"). The individual Lessees were Caputo, Faerber, and Neel. The lease expressly provided that the Lessees were jointly *and severally* liable under the lease.

A. Lessee Caputo Alone Sued the Lessors for Rescission and Related Claims; Lessors Obtained Judgment on the Cross Complaint against Caputo for Breach of Lease

In 2007 Lessee Caputo, but not the other two co-Lessees, sued Lessors for rescission, breach of contract and tort damages ("Caputo Action"). As cross-complainants in the Caputo Action, commercial Lessors DKN and CDFT obtained a judgment of over \$3 million against Lessee Caputo only, for unpaid rent and damages for breach of the ten-year lease.

B. <u>DKN's Separate Suit Against the Co-Lessees in the Faerber</u> Action was Dismissed on Demurrer Without Leave to Amend

After having prevailed at trial on its claims against Caputo, but before entry of judgment in the *Caputo Action*, DKN initiated a separate action against co-Lessees Faerber and Neel seeking to hold them severally liable for breach of the lease and related damages ("*Faerber Action*"). The trial court granted the first demurrer of Faerber without leave to amend. The trial court held that the judgment in the *Caputo Action* precluded the *Faerber Action* as a matter of law under, *inter alia*, the claim preclusion arm of res judicata.

3

C. At the Outset of the Caputo Action, Counsel for the Three Lessees Formally Asserted that Caputo was Actually the Sole Lessee

Though the Lessors initially cross-complained against all three Lessees, they proceeded against only the single Lessee Caputo in the *Caputo Action*. This was a result of contentions made on behalf of both Caputo and co-Lessees Faerber and Neel, all represented by the same counsel, that Caputo was the only intended Lessee, and that Faerber and Neel were not co-Lessees. The documentation of the lease was not well prepared. From the documentation alone, there was room for some uncertainty as to the identity of the intended Lessees at the outset of the *Caputo Action*. The principal of the co-Lessor CDFT, who had been primarily responsible on behalf of the Lessors for the documentation of the lease, had passed away prior to the *Caputo Action* and was therefore unavailable to provide clarifying input as to the intended identity of the Lessees.

The *Caputo Action* thus proceeded to trial without the co-Lessees Faerber and Neel having been brought into the action as cross-defendants, as plaintiffs on the claims to rescind the lease, or otherwise. Caputo lost at trial on his affirmative claims. The Lessors prevailed on their claim for breach of lease. Judgment was entered in favor of the Lessors against Caputo on November 11, 2011.

4

D. Testimony at Trial Having Clarified that There Had Always Been Three Individual Co-Lessees, Lessor DKN Initiated Suit Against the Co-Lessees Prior to Entry of Judgment in the Caputo Action

During the trial in the *Caputo Action* it had become clear that, contrary to the contentions earlier made on behalf of the three co-Lessees, Faerber and Neel were indeed co-Lessees, and were also "partners" with Caputo in the fitness club venture that employed the leased premises. On June 1, 2011, several months prior to the entry of judgment against Caputo, Lessor DKN initiated this action against the co-Lessees Faerber and Neel.

Faerber demurred. Neel failed to respond and was defaulted. Faerber's demurrer contended that DKN's action constituted an improper "splitting" of a cause of action, and was barred, *inter alia*, by the doctrine of res judicata.

E. <u>DKN Cited Three Primary Sources in Support of the Assertion</u> that Jointly and Severally Liable Co-Obligors may be Sued Severally in Separate Suits

DKN opposed the Faerber demurrer citing, inter alia, Williams 2^2 for the proposition that where the liability of co-obligors on a contract is both joint

² Williams 2 followed the previously published appellate opinion in Williams v. Reed (1952) 113 Cal.App.2d 195 ("Williams 1").

and several,³ it is permissible to sue the obligors either jointly in a single lawsuit, or severally in separate lawsuits. DKN also cited 4 Witkin, California Procedure (5th ed. 2008) Pleading, 365, p. 124 in support of this legal principle. Finally, DKN cited Corporations Code § 16307(b), which provides, inter alia, that "an action may be brought against a partnership and any or all of the partners in the same action or in separate actions." (Emphasis added.)

Faerber's demurrer was granted without leave to amend. The court opined, *inter alia*, that this Court's holding in *Williams 2* was "wrong." It further concluded that the consistent discussion in Witkin was "one of those classic examples of Witkin referring to and relying on a case that doesn't support the theory published in Witkin." The Opinion includes this pejorative reference to Witkin at footnote 5.

The trial court subsequently ordered on its own motion that the defaulted Lessee Neel also have judgment entered in his favor.

DKN appealed.

³ It is undisputed that a written provision of the standard form commercial lease employed in this case provided that the contractual liability of the Lessees was joint and several.

F. The Court of Appeal Agreed With the Trial Court that the Supreme Court Was "Wrong" In Williams 2, and Thereon Established the Res Judicata Exception to the General Rule of Joint and Several Liability

Relying on *Williams 2*, DKN argued on appeal that a judgment against one joint and several obligor does not foreclose a later action against another joint and several obligor. In rejecting DKN's argument, the Court of Appeal nonetheless acknowledged the general rule of joint and several liability upon which DKN relied. (The "general rule of joint and several liability" or "general rule.")⁴ In this regard the Court of Appeal quoted the following passage from *Williams 2* as a reflection of the *general rule*:

"It is true in most jurisdictions, including California, that *joint* obligors upon the same contract are indispensible parties. They may not be sued separately [citations]. If judgment is obtained in a separate action against one, it bars an action against the others. [Citation.] When the obligation is *joint and several*, it is not nonjoinder to sue one alone [citations]. The same is true of an action against one or more and less than all of a number of persons jointly and severally obligated as tortfeasors. In such a case the judgment obtained against one is not a bar to an action against the remaining joint and several obligors.

⁴ The term "general rule" was employed in *Williams 1*, *supra*, at 204: "The same is true of an action against one or more and less than all of a number of persons jointly and severally obligated as tort-feasors. In such a case the judgment obtained against one is not a bar to an action against the remaining joint and several obligors. 'Nothing short of satisfaction in some form constitutes a bar....'[Citations.] That being so in respect to joint and several tort obligors, the same should be true of joint and several obligors under a contract. That seems to be the **general rule**." (Emphasis added.)

'Nothing short of satisfaction in some form constitutes a bar...
'" (Ibid., quoting Grundel v. Union Iron Works (1900) 127 Cal.
438, 442.)⁵

Opinion, 11, bold added, italics in original.

Noting that, based on the above-quoted passage from *Williams 2*, DKN had argued that, because Caputo, Faerber, and Neel "are jointly *and severally* liable for the unpaid rents and other monies due under the lease, the judgment against Caputo does not bar DKN's identical claims against Faerber and Neel in the present action. . . ," (*id.*) the Court of Appeal stated its disagreement with the following explanation:

As the trial court noted in sustaining the demurrer, the passage from Williams [2] is "wrong" and incorrectly states the law—to the extent it may be construed as allowing an obligee, such as DKN, to obtain separate judgments in separate actions against joint and several obligors, based on the same claims.⁶

Opinion, 11, emphasis added.

The Court of Appeal attempted to distinguish the holding in *Williams 2*:

⁵ See also *Heath v. Manson* (1905) 147 Cal. 694, 701, citing *Grundel* for the relevant proposition.

⁶ As argued below, DKN submits that the Court of Appeal's supposition that DKN's claim against Faerber and Neel was the "same claim" as that against Caputo, appears to ignore the fundamental difference between a merely "joint" liability, and a "several" liability. The latter, by definition, signifies the existence of a *separate claim* against each of the severally liable co-obligors, though that claim may arise from what appears on its face a single contract, such as the lease here. (See argument, *infra*.)

Williams [2] did not address the issue presented here: whether a final judgment on the merits against *one* joint and several obligor bars a subsequent action and judgment against additional joint and several obligors, on the same obligation, by the same claimant.⁷

Opinion, 11-12.

Noting that "cases are not authority for propositions not considered...," the court concluded that "Williams [2] does not support DKN's position." (Opinion, 12.) In creating what DKN submits is an irreconcilably contradictory exception to the general rule of joint and several liability, the court concluded that, though the general rule permits separate actions against severally liable co-obligors, that same general rule did not permit DKN to sue the jointly and severally liable co-Lessees in a separate action following a judgment⁸ on the merits in favor of DKN against the severally liable co-Lessee Caputo. This rule applied by the Court of Appeal will be referred to

9

As argued below, it appears that the controlling *general rule of joint and several liability* acknowledged by the court necessarily presupposes the possibility, in connection with every *joint and several* liability, of a prior judgment on the merits in a *first-in-time* legally permissible separate action against one severally liable co-obligor, and a subsequent judgment against another severally liable co-obligor in a legally permissible separate action. If the first judgment legally precludes pursuit of any other action against severally liable co-obligors, then the *general rule of joint and several liability* has been rendered both meaningless and materially misleading.

⁸ Though DKN does not perceive the fact as particularly material, it notes that the *Faerber Action* was filed prior to the entry of judgment in the *Caputo Action*.

below as the "res judicata exception" to the general rule of joint and several liability.

G. Under the Res Judicata Exception, There Can Only Ever Be but

a Single Judgment on the Merits Against Severally Liable CoObligors, Notwithstanding that Multiple Separate Actions are

Permitted Against Multiple Jointly and Severally Liable CoObligors

Thus the res judicata exception to the general rule may be stated as follows: While the *general rule* expressly permits separate actions to enforce joint and several liabilities (indeed, that is effectively its raison d'être), it does not permit separate judgments in those permissible separate actions. As applied here, and as it would need to be applied generally if it is found to be an accurate statement of the law, the res judicata exception bars any further pursuit of an otherwise permissible separate action against a severally liable co-obligor once a judgment on the merits has been entered against another severally liable co-obligor in any other permissible separate action. The res judicata exception thus stands for the proposition that only one judgment will ever permissibly exist on the merits of a claim as to which there are multiple jointly and severally liable co-obligors. As argued below, DKN contends that the general rule of joint and several liability openly acknowledged by the Court of Appeal is irreconcilably in conflict with the res judicata exception created in the Opinion.

In a manner which DKN contends reflects the irreconcilable inconsistency between the *general rule* and the *res judicata exception*, the court emphasized ("[t]o be sure") the applicability of the *general rule* in establishing the *res judicata exception*:

To be sure, courts are generally authorized to render separate judgments, in the same action or in separate actions, against joint and several obligors. (Melander v. Western Nat. Bank (1913) 21 Cal. App. 462,474-78 [construing former § 414, now § 410.70 & §§ 578, 579, as authoring [sic] courts to enter separate judgments in separate actions against joint and several obligors]; [fn.] see also Grundel v. Union Iron Works, supra, 127 Cal. at p. 442 [joint and several tortfeasors may be sued in separate actions].)

Opinion, 12, bold added, italics in original.

Notwithstanding this repeated recognition of the *general rule*, the Court of Appeal declared the *res judicata exception* in the following passage:

But even when joint and several obligors are not required to be sued in the same action (see §§ 410.70, 389) when, as here, a final judgment on the merits has been rendered in one action against a joint and several obligor, res judicata will

⁹ Given the necessary effect of the *res judicata exception* of prohibiting any subsequent action or judgment against a severally liable co-obligor once a judgment on the merits has been entered against any other severally liable co-obligor, DKN is unable to conceive how any "generally authorized…separate judgment" expressly referenced in the passage above can ever come into being without violating the *res judicata exception*.

¹⁰ The Opinion acknowledges that these current sections of the Code of Civil Procedure are consistent with the *general rule*.

bar the assertion of identical claims¹¹ against other joint and several obligors, in a subsequent action, by parties bound by the judgment in the prior action.

Opinion, 12-13, emphasis added.

H. The Opinion Rejected a Passage From Witkin, Consistent With

Williams 2, As a "Classic Example" Of Witkin

Mischaracterizing the Law

Following its creation of the *res judicata exception*, the court expressly rejected a passage from Witkin that is consistent with the *general rule*. Quoted by the Court of Appeal, the Witkin passage relied upon by DKN states, consistent with the holdings in the two *Williams* cases, *Grundel v. Union Iron Works* (1900) 127 Cal. 438, *Melander v. Western National Bank* (1913) 21 Cal.App. 462, and the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure §§ 379, 389 and 410,70:

"If defendants are both jointly and severally liable, joinder is not mandatory but permissive, and the plaintiff, although he or she has but one cause of action, may sue one defendant first and another later. Despite the theoretical incongruity, the plaintiff is not barred in the second action because the defense of res judicata is available only when both the cause of action and the parties are the same." (4 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (5th Ed. 2008) Pleading § 65 p.124, italics added.)¹²

¹¹ As noted above, the employment of the term "identical claims" appears to ignore the fundamental difference between a merely "joint" liability, and a "several" liability. (See fn. 6, *supra*.)

¹² See also 5 Witkin, Summary 10th (2005) Torts, § 66, p. 136, citing several different authorities for the same principle in the tort context: "If an action is

Opinion, 13, bold added, italics in original.

In rejecting Witkin's statement of the general rule, the court noted:

Like the passage from Williams, supra, 48 Cal.2d at page 65, the trial court rejected this passage from Witkin as an incorrect statement of the law, [fn.] and we agree it is incorrect. The passage from Witkin mistakenly indicates that defendants in the current proceeding must have been parties to the prior proceeding, in which a final judgment on the merits was obtained on the same claims, in order to invoke res judicata in the current proceeding, but this is not the law.

Id., emphasis added.

Relying on the holdings in, *inter alia*, *Arias*, *Vandenberg*, and *Lippert*, *infra*, the court concluded that the successful establishment of the liability of one jointly and severally liable obligor in the *Caputo Action* barred DKN from seeking to establish the legal responsibility of the other severally liable co-obligors in the separate *Faerber Action*.

13

brought or judgment rendered against less than all, the entry of judgment alone is not res judicata with respect to the liability of the others. (*Knowles v. Tehachapi Valley Hosp. Dist.* (1996) 49 C.A.4th 1083, 1090, 57 C.R.2d 192, quoting the text; see Rest.2d, Torts §884; Rest.2d, Judgments §49; 6 Cal. L. Rev. 230; 74 Am.Jur.2d (2001 ed.), Torts §64 et seq."

I. The Opinion Rejected the Contention that Corporations Code § 16307(b) Provides for Joint and Several Liability in Partners When a Judgment on the Merits is First Obtained Against One Partner, but Not the Other Partners

The Court of Appeal rejected DKN's contention that Faerber's alleged "partnership liability" under the Lease created an independent basis for holding him severally responsible on the Lease, and therefore subject to a separate lawsuit on that several obligation. DKN argued that since Corporations Code § 16307(b) provides that an action on a partnership obligation may be brought against the partnership "and any or all of the partners in the same action *or in separate actions*" (emphasis added), it was permissible for DKN to sue the alleged partner Faerber in an action separate from the *Caputo Action*.

The Court of Appeal rejected this contention tersely, without citation of authority. It held that "this statutory authorization [of § 16307(b)] to sue partners in separate actions does not apply when, as here, the claims asserted in the subsequent action are barred by res judicata principles." (Opinion, 14.)

In rejecting the partnership claim, the Court of Appeal did not accept DKN's assertion that the trial court had "found that Faerber, along with Caputo and Neel, were 'partners' on the lease." (*Id.*) The Court of Appeal recognized, however, that the trial court in the *Caputo Action* had "loosely

referred to Caputo, Faerber, and Neel as 'partners' who 'wanted to lease and build out premises for a fitness club " (*Id.*)

Whether or not the trial court in the *Caputo Action* actually ruled a partnership relationship existed appears immaterial to the issues specified for review. Even if it is assumed, *arguendo*, that the trial court did not find a partnership among the co-Lessees, DKN could certainly have alleged such a partnership had it been allowed to amend its complaint in the *Faerber Action*. It was therefore necessary for the Court of Appeal to make the formal finding that Corporations Code § 16307(b) did not permit separate actions against the putative partners, even if they were assumed to have been partners, because under the liberal rules governing amendment of pleadings, the supposition necessarily had to be made that DKN could have alleged the partnership relationship in an amended complaint.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The General Rule of Joint and Several Liability, Acknowledged

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