SUPREME COURT
FILED

SEP 19 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

S218597
In the
SUPREME COURT
of the
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DKN HOLDINGS LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

WADE FAERBER,

Defendant-Respondent

On Review from the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District,
Division Two, 4th Civil No. E055732, E056294
After An Appeal from the Superior Court of Riverside County
Case Number RIC 1109512, Hon. John W. Vineyard

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CALLAHAN & BLAINE, APLC

Daniel J. Callahan (SBN 91490)

Edward Susolik (SBN 151081)

Michael S. LeBoff (SBN 204612)

Jill A. Thomas (SBN 93021)

3 Hutton Centre Drive, Ninth Floor

Santa Ana, CA 92707

(714) 241-4444 Telephone

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

ARGUMENT

DKN CANNOT PURSUE MULTIPLE LAWSUITS

ON THE SAME CAUSE OF ACTION

A. DKN's Second Lawsuit Is Barred by Res Judicata

“A clear and predictable res judicata doctrine promotes judicial economy. Under this doctrine, all claims based on the same cause of action must be decided in a single suit; if not brought initially, they may not be raised at a later date. Res judicata precludes piecemeal litigation by splitting a single cause of action or relitigation of the same cause of action on a different legal theory or for different relief.” (*Mycogen Corp. v. Monsanto Co.* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 888, 897 (citations omitted).)

It is well established that res judicata applies not only to claims actually litigated, but also to those claims that could have and should have been litigated in a prior action. “If the matter was within the scope of the action, related to the subject-matter and relevant to the issues, so that it could have been raised, the judgment is conclusive on it despite the fact that it was not in fact expressly pleaded or otherwise urged.” (*Thibodeau v. Crum* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 749, 755 (citation omitted).) “The reason for

this is manifest. A party cannot by negligence or design withhold issues and litigate them in consecutive actions. Hence the rule is that the prior judgment is res judicata on matters which were raised or could have been raised, on matters litigated or litigable.” (*Ibid.*)

The elements of res judicata are well settled. “Res judicata, or claim preclusion, precludes the relitigation of a cause of action that was litigated in a prior proceeding if three requirements are satisfied: (1) the present action is on the same cause of action as the prior proceeding; (2) the prior proceeding resulted in a final judgment on the merits; and (3) the parties in the present action or parties in privity with them were parties to the prior proceeding.” (*Bullock v. Philip Morris USA, Inc.* (2011)198 Cal.App. 4th 543, 557; see also *San Diego Police Officers’ Assn v. San Diego City Employees’ Retirement System* (9th Cir. 2009) 568 F.3d 725, 734 [holding same].) Thus, if each of these three elements apply, then DKN’s claims against Faerber are barred by res judicata.

1. The Claims Against Faerber and Caputo Are on the Same Causes of Action

As to the first element, a “cause of action” is based upon the harm suffered, as opposed to the particular theory asserted by the plaintiff. DKN attempts to distinguish this particular case arguing that, because Faerber and

Caputo were jointly and severally liable, the claims against them constitute separate causes of action. That argument is wrong, and not surprisingly, DKN does not cite a single case holding that identical claims against jointly and severally liable defendants constitute separate causes of action.

The well-established law is to the contrary, holding, quite simply: “one injury gives rise to only one claim for relief.” (*Weikel v. TCW Realty Fund II Holding Co.* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 1234, 1246-47, citing *Slater v. Blackwood* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 791, 795 (emphasis added).) The single injury here is the unpaid rent and CAM charges due under the lease. The fact that Faerber and Caputo are alleged to be jointly and severally liable for that one injury does not change the analysis. DKN has but one injury; and therefore, only one claim for relief.

Addressing the exact issue presented here, the court in *Richard B. Levine, Inc. v. Higashi* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 566, 575, held:

“Even when several defendants cause a single injury to plaintiff, the primary right is determinative. So, if there is only one primary right violated there is only one cause of action, even though there may be two or more wrongdoers, each doing a wrongful act and each individually liable for it.”

(internal citation omitted)

Likewise, in *Lippert v. Bailey* (1966) 241 Cal.App.2d 376, 382, the court confirmed that “[a] single cause of action may not be maintained against various defendants in separate suits as the plaintiff has suffered but one injury.”

In *Prosurance Group, Inc. v. ACE Property & Cas. Ins. Co.* (N.D. Cal. May 12, 2010) 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46818, the federal court for the Northern District of California, relying on *Brinton v. Bankers Pension Svcs., Inc.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 550, applied California law in a very similar situation. There, the plaintiff initiated arbitration proceedings against numerous subsidiary companies for breach of contract. After prevailing in the arbitration, plaintiff filed a separate lawsuit against the subsidiaries’ parent companies, who were not parties to the arbitration, for tort claims alleging they were jointly and severally liable because they instructed the subsidiaries to commit the contractual breaches litigated in the arbitration. Defendants moved to dismiss the lawsuit on res judicata grounds claiming that “a valid final judgment on the merits of a claim precludes a second action on that claim or any part of it.” (*Id.* at p. *11.) The Court agreed, holding “the instant action is based upon alleged violations of the same primary right as was litigated previously before the arbitrators.” (*Id.* at p. *20.)

The *Prosurance* court rejected an attempt to distinguish *Brinton* on the basis that the defendants' liability in the second lawsuit was derivative of the defendants' liability in the first case. "Although both *Brinton* and *Thibodeau* were based at least in part on findings that the liability of one of the parties was derivative only, Defendants are correct that neither case - nor any other case cited by Plaintiff - holds that application of the res judicata doctrine requires a derivative liability connection between defendants." (*ProSurance Group, Inc., supra*, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46818 at p. *18.) Regardless of whether liability was derivative, it would have been joint and several, which, under DKN's argument, would have prevented the application of *res judicata*. The *Brinton* and *ProSurance* courts found otherwise.

The other case cited by *ProSurance*, *Thibodeau, supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th 749, is also instructive. There, plaintiffs, after experiencing numerous construction defects on their new home, including radiating cracks in their concrete driveway, commenced arbitration against the general contractor. The arbitrator awarded plaintiffs damages for poor workmanship. Subsequently, the driveway cracks worsened and plaintiffs filed a separate lawsuit against the concrete subcontractor. The subcontractor, who was not a party to the arbitration, moved to dismiss the

lawsuit claiming the driveway issues were or could have been raised in the arbitration. The court agreed, holding that “if the radiating cracks in the driveway were not encompassed within the Thibodeau/Eller arbitration, they most certainly should have been. . . . The fact that the Thibodeaus' attention was drawn to more egregious construction deficiencies does not excuse their failure to seek damages for the cracks through the arbitration proceeding. Nor does it exempt them from application of the doctrine of res judicata.” (*Id.* at p. 756.)

In this case, the first amended cross-complaint in the *Caputo* lawsuit confirms that both lawsuit are based on the same cause of action. In the first lawsuit, DKN alleged:

“Cross-Defendant, WADE FAERBER, is, and at all times mentioned herein, an individual and principle [sic.] and/or officer of EVOLUTION FITNESS aka Evolution Fitness Elite Sports Club, Inc., a California corporation, who is residing in Riverside County, State of California.” (FACC at ¶ 3) [2 AA 171.]

DKN further alleged in the first lawsuit:

“[o]n or about April 1, 2007, Cross-Defendants breached the Lease Agreement by failing to pay Common Area Operating

Expenses ('CAM') pursuant to the terms of the Lease Agreement. In addition, Cross-Defendants failed to pay rent from November 1, 2007 through the end of the lease term.” (FACC at ¶ 7) [2 AA 172.]

Each of the five causes of action in the *Caputo* lawsuit were asserted against “All Cross-Defendants.” (FACC at p. 3:9-12, 4:2-4; 4:19-21, 5:13-15, 6:5-7 [2 AA 172-175.] The Prayer for Relief prayed for judgment and relief against “Cross-Defendants,” including Faerber. (FACC at p. 7:19-20 [2 AA 176.]

DKN nevertheless contends that joint and several liability creates the legal fiction of having three separate and independent leases with each lessee. No statute creates this legal fiction and no California case law has acknowledged it. Here, even though there are three lessees, there is only a single promise (pay rent and other charges under the lease) which resulted in a single injury to DKN. Each time this Court has considered the primary right doctrine, the focus has always been on the injury to the plaintiff, not the legal theory invoked. (*See, e.g., Slater v. Blackwood* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 791, 795 [“Even where there are multiple legal theories upon which recovery might be predicated, one injury gives rise to only one claim for relief.”].) There is no reason to change the focus of primary right doctrine

to accommodate a legal fiction that three separate leases existed. To the extent antiquated case law and treatises support the existence of such a legal fiction, which is not supported by statute, this Court should make clear that such an illogical legal fiction has no place in modern jurisprudence.

DKN seeks the same damages and Faerber's alleged liability is based on the exact same set of facts alleged in the *Caputo* lawsuit. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the two actions were based on the same primary right and therefore the same cause of action (Opn., p. 10) correctly applied existing law.

2. The *Caputo* Judgment Was A Final Judgment on the Merits

As to the second element of res judicata, the Court of Appeal properly concluded the judgment in the *Caputo* action was a final judgment on the merits. Nevertheless, DKN argues for a drastic revision to the doctrine of res judicata, claiming it only applies where the judgment on the merits is adverse to the party pursuing duplicative lawsuits. DKN's contention the res judicata doctrine is inapplicable because it prevailed in the first lawsuit is simply wrong.

In *Mycogen*, this Court held a plaintiff's complaint for damages was barred by res judicata even though that plaintiff prevailed in an earlier

action for declaratory and injunctive relief against the same defendant on the same “cause of action.” In so ruling, this Court relied upon the well-established principle that “a judgment in an action for breach of contract bars a subsequent action for additional relief on the same breach.” (*Id.* at 905.) Likewise, in both *ProSurance* and *Thibodeau, supra*, the plaintiff prevailed in the first proceeding but was still barred from bringing a second action against jointly and severally liable defendants on the same cause of action. The second element of res judicata is therefore satisfied.

Furthermore, when examined under the unique facts of this case, DKN’s position is based on the incorrect premise that Faerber was not a party to the *Caputo* lawsuit. Although DKN dismissed him from the original cross-complaint, it never dismissed Faerber after reinstating the claims against him in the amended cross-complaint. (*Kuperman v. Great Republic Life Ins. Co* (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 943, 947 [“We hold that the dismissal effected by plaintiffs when they failed to name Great Republic as a defendant in their second amended complaint was without prejudice, and that Great Republic was properly reinstated as a defendant when so named in plaintiffs’ third amended complaint.”].) Pursuant to Civil Procedure

Code § 581(d)², by failing to dismiss Faerber prior to trial in the *Caputo* lawsuit, DKN is deemed to have dismissed the first amended cross-complaint against Faerber with prejudice, which operates as a final judgment in favor of Faerber on the merits for res judicata purposes. (*Boeken v. Philip Morris USA, Inc.* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 788, 793 [“[F]or purposes of applying the doctrine of res judicata, however, a dismissal with prejudice is the equivalent of a final judgment on the merits, barring the entire cause of action.”].) For this additional reason, res judicata applies to bar DKN’s second lawsuit against Faerber.

3. Res Judicata Applies Even Though Faerber Was Not Served In the Prior Lawsuit

Lastly, as to the third element, there is no dispute that DKN was a party to both the *Caputo* and *Faerber* actions. Furthermore, although Faerber was named in the first amended cross-complaint in the *Caputo* lawsuit and never dismissed, as this Court has repeatedly acknowledged, “[t]he party seeking the benefits of the [res judicata] doctrine ... need not have been a party to the earlier lawsuit.” (*Arias v. Superior Court* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 985; *see also Vandenberg v. Superior Court* (1999) 21

² Code of Civil Procedure § 581(d) provides: “[T]he court shall dismiss the complaint, or any cause of action asserted in it, in its entirety or as to any defendant, with prejudice, when upon the trial and before the final submission of the case, the plaintiff abandons it.”

Cal.4th 815, 828 [“Only the party against whom the doctrine is invoked must be bound by the prior proceeding.”].) DKN attempts to distinguish *Arias* and *Vandenberg* on the grounds that those cases involved issue preclusion rather than claim preclusion. That is a distinction without a difference, as this Court has previously held that “[t]he prerequisite elements for applying the doctrine to either an entire cause of action or one or more issues are the same.” (*People v. Barragan* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 236, 253.) The Court of Appeal rightly determined that it was irrelevant whether Faerber was a party to the *Caputo* lawsuit.

Having correctly determined that all three elements of *res judicata* are present, the Superior Court and Court of Appeal properly affirmed the judgment in favor of Faerber. To the extent application of *res judicata* conflicts with or limits a plaintiff’s ability to file duplicative lawsuits, *res judicata* and its underlying policy goals should control.

B. Res Judicata and Joint and Several Liability Are Not Mutually Exclusive

Although each element of *res judicata* is met, DKN asks this Court to disregard the *res judicata* doctrine arguing that it “cannot rationally coexist” with the concept of joint and several liability. (Merits Brief, p. 21.) But many courts have noted the interplay between these doctrines and identified

instances where separate judgments may be entered without disregarding the doctrine of res judicata. For example, “[t]here are certain cases where default judgments were taken against defaulting defendants who were claimed to be jointly and severally liable with the answering defendants. There, however, they set up independent defenses not involving the defaulting defendants. Under such circumstances, the courts held that a separate judgment against such defaulting defendants may be entered before the issue is tried as to the appearing defendants.” (*Mirabile v. Smith* (1953) 119 Cal.App.2d 685, 688.) Or, separate judgments may be entered where summary judgment is warranted against one party, but not another. (*Cuevas v. Truline Corp.* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 56, 61.) Separate actions may also be necessary where the court lacks jurisdiction over a joint and several defendant so the claims against that defendant could not have been tried. (*Pacific Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. McConnell* (1955) 44 Cal.2d 715, 725 [“It is the general rule that a final judgment or order is res judicata even though contrary to statute where the court has jurisdiction in the fundamental sense, i.e., of the subject matter and the parties.”].)

DKN tries to liken its case to a situation where a plaintiff may be prevented from bringing a lawsuit against a jointly and severally liable co-obligor because that person is an active member of the military (Merits

Brief, p. 30, fn.21.). The analogy fails. “Res judicata bars a cause of action that was or *could have* been litigated in a prior proceeding.” (*Federal Home Loan Bank of San Francisco v. Countrywide Financial Corp.* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 1520, 1527.) Thus, if there was some legal impediment that meant a claim against a jointly and severally liable defendant could not be brought, there is no basis to apply res judicata. Likewise, even if the elements of res judicata are met, where there is some compelling public policy reason that prevents litigating all claims in a single lawsuit, the court can refuse to apply res judicata under the public policy exception. (*Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 607, 621 [acknowledging public policy exception to res judicata and collateral estoppel].)

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